PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the Record on Appeal will be made by the designation "R" followed by the appropriate page number, i.e. (R-page number).

It should be noted that the portions of the Record which contain the transcript of the trial are not in chronological order but are in the order that the transcripts were filed with the Clerk's office.

The trial in this case was a joint trial with two codefendants. The trial court agreed that objections made on behalf of either co-defendant were construed by the trial court to be made on behalf of both defendants. (R-512-513).

References to the Supplemental Record on Appeal will be made by designation "SR" followed by the appropriate page number, i.e. (SR-page number).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 19, 1985, the State filed a two count Information charging Richard Arnold Downing and Martha A. Munroe with:

1. Conspiracy to possess in excess of 400 grams of cocaine, contrary to Section 893.135(4), Florida Statutes; and

 Displaying, using, threatening or attempting to use a firearm in the commission of a felony, contrary to Section 790.07(2), Florida Statutes (R-1).

Appellant DOWNING filed a Plea of Not Guilty, Demand for Jury Trial, and Demand for Discovery (R-10-12).

The State filed approximately 11 responses to the Demand for Discovery (R-16-19, 37, 45, 46, 49, 52, 53, 346, 362, 370, and 388).

Appellant DOWNING filed a Motion to Compel Discovery (R-24-36) which included a request for the production of reports or statements of police officers. The Motion was denied (R-39-40).

Appellant DOWNING filed a Second Motion to Compel Discovery which again sought production of reports or statements of FDLE agents (R-42-44). The Motion for disclosure of the police reports was denied (R-57, 1285-1307).

The State filed a Notice of Intent to Rely on Similar Fact Evidence (R-41) and Appellant DOWNING filed a Motion to Strike the Notice of Intent to Rely on Similar Fact Evidence (R-54-56). That Motion was heard before the trial court before

-1-

trial and was denied orally, but no written order was entered (R-455-480).

Appellant DOWNING filed a renewed Motion to Compel Discovery (R-347-348) which again for the <u>third time</u> sought production of reports and statements of FDLE agents. The Motion was heard by the trial court before trial and was denied orally but no written order was entered (R-480-491).

The case was tried before a jury on January 7 through 11, 1986. The trial court granted both defendants' Motions for Judgment of Acquittal as to Count Two of the Information at the close of the State's case (R-1660-1694). However, the trial court denied Appellant DOWNING'S Motion for Judgment of Acquittal as to Count One (R-1660-1694) and denied the Appellant DOWNING'S Motion for Judgment of Acquittal at the close of all the evidence (R-1969-1977).

Both defendants were found guilty of Count One (R-1509). Appellant DOWNING filed a post-trial Motion for Judgment of Acquittal and a post-trial Motion for a New Trial (R-385-387, 382-384, and 1171-1207). Both Motions were denied (R-397, 1171-1207).

The trial court adjudicated the Appellant DOWNING guilty of the offense of conspiracy to traffic in cocaine in violation of Section 893.135(4), Florida Statutes, and exceeded the sentencing guidelines and sentenced the Appellant DOWNING to twenty-five (25) years (R-1311-1330, 412-414).

```
-2-
```

DOWNING timely filed his Notice of Appeal with the First District Court of Appeal on March 24, 1986. DOWNING also filed a Motion to Unseal and Disclose Police Reports with the First District Court of Appeal, wherein DOWNING asked the Court to unseal police reports which had been submitted with the record on appeal under seal. The Court entered an Order deferring ruling on this issue to the panel that was to decide the case on the merits. On June 30, 1987, the Court held oral argument in this cause and on October 30, 1987 the First District Court of Appeal rendered its decision affirming the conviction and sentence. A copy of the Opinion of the First District Court of Appeal is included in Petitioner's Appendix. The opinion of the Court adopted conclusions and rationale of the panel in the codefendant's case, Munroe v. State (Florida District Court of Appeal BM-117), and therefore, Petitioner has included the opinion in the companion Munroe case in his Appendix.

On November 12, 1987 DOWNING served a Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Rehearing En Banc and on December 8, 1987 the Court entered its Order denying the Motion for Rehearing.

-3-

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Bruce Evans testified he was a 36 year old pipe fitter from Taylor County, Florida (R-814). In March, 1985, Martha B. Munroe asked him if he could procure cocaine (R-15).

Evans attempted to procure cocaine; however, he was unsuccessful (R-816). Evans contacted Simmie Moore, the ex-Sheriff of Madison County, and advised he wanted to get out of the cocaine business. Moore put him in touch with Madison County Sheriff Joe Peavy (R-819), who then contacted the Florida Department of Law Enforcement and arrangements were made for Evans to meet with FDLE agents (R-820).

Evans met with Agents Cornelius and Layman (R-821), advising them he had been contacted by Munroe about cocaine. A plan was formulated to put the agents in contact with Munroe. (R-823).

On April 2, 1985, Munroe contacted Evans by phone and he advised her to go to a truckstop at Greenville on Interstate 10 and wait for a phone call (R-824). Agent Layman contacted Munroe by phone and recorded the conversation wherein they discussed a cocaine transaction involving 5 kilos of cocaine. There was a disagreement as to price and the negotiations were terminated.

Later Munroe contacted Evans by phone and advised that "she was leaving" (R-827). Munroe later called Evans back and agreed they could still do business if the deal could be put together that day (R-827). Munroe and Evans agreed to meet the

-4-

next morning at Shoney's on Highway 27 North in Tallahassee (R-828).

On the morning of April 3, Evans and Munroe met at Shoney's. They proceeded to Room 225 at the Red Roof Inn, which was occupied by "Geronimo" (Downing) (R-830). Evans was following Agent Layman's instructions to view the money before the cocaine deal was to occur (R-831). Munroe instructed "Geronimo" (Downing) to show Evans the money (R-832, 833, 1906, 938).

Evans and Munroe left the room, went to a payphone and Evans phoned Layman to advise he had seen the money. He received instructions to sit tight. Evans and Munroe went to Munroe's home in Gadsden County, ultimately returning to the Red Roof Inn at least once, if not on two other occasions (R-834, R-937).

At some time around 11:00 a.m. on April 3, 1986, Evans and Munroe returned to Room 225 at the Red Roof Inn and joined "Geronimo" (Downing). They chit-chatted about turkey hunting (R-836-837), but there was no discussion about the cocaine, about testing the cocaine, about whether anyone had seen the cocaine, and Downing (Geronimo) never said anything about any cocaine deal (R-938-939, 969-970).

Some time around 11:30 a.m. to 12:00 noon, Layman called and said he was in Room 105 at the Red Roof Inn. Evans and Munroe went and met with Layman and Agent McKeehan in Room 105 (R-838). Layman displayed five kilos of cocaine (R-840). A tape

-5-

recording of the meeting was played for the jury and the jury was given a transcript to aid in their listening to the tape (R-1012, 415-423). There was a discussion between the agents and Munroe about testing the cocaine and Munroe wanted to take the cocaine or a sample to her tester. The agents refused and Munroe left the room to presumably make arrangements for the testing (R-1018).

Munroe left the motel and phoned Evans indicating there was a van outside with somebody taking pictures, and that she was gone and if Evans wanted to meet her, she would see him where she did that morning, which was Shoney's (R-842). Evans then left and went home. Evans later received three payments of \$500 in cash from the agents, or a total of \$1,500 (R-843).

Over pretrial and trial objections by defense counsel, Evans was permitted to testify to the following similar facts or collateral crimes evidence:

In late 1983 or the first part of 1984, Evans was contacted by a friend of Munroe, Bobby Harrison, for the purpose of having Evans transport cocaine for Munroe (R-881). They agreed on a price of \$3,500 and Munroe and Evans drove to San Francisco, California with a box that Evans believed contained cocaine (R-884). After arrival, Munroe left Evans at their hotel and came back after an hour or two. The next morning, she gave him \$3,500 and he drove her to an airport for her to fly back to Tallahassee. He then drove the car back to Tallahassee (R-884).

-6-

Evans became involved in another incident where he operated as a "mule" for Munroe. In this incident, Munroe and Evans went to Atlanta where they stayed at a Ramada Inn for approximately three days (R-885). Evans returned home, stayed for a day or two and he was recalled to Atlanta by Munroe (R-886). Munroe provided him with \$600 in expense money and told him to go to Denver, Colorado and call a phone number she provided (R-887).

Evans arrived in Denver, called the phone number from the hotel room and waited for Munroe to show up. She arrived at the hotel, obtained the car keys, left and came back and paid Evans \$3,500 (R-888). The telephone number that Evans called in Denver, Colorado was turned over to Cornelius.

Approximately two days after he returned from Colorado, Munroe contacted Evans again and asked if he was ready to go again (R-890). He met Munroe at McDonald's on Highway 319 North in Tallahassee and Munroe gave him a small attache case which was supposed to contain cocaine (R-890). Evans put the case in the trunk of the car and drove to San Francisco. Upon arrival in San Francisco, he contacted Munroe at a number that Munroe had provided (R-890). Munroe arrived at the motel he was staying at, took the car keys, left and came back in an hour and told Evans it wasn't any good and that he had to take it back (R-891).

In 1985 Munroe contacted Evans and inquired if he could find some cocaine. He indicated he thought that he could through a friend of his, Sonny Parnell (R-892). Evans and Parnell

-7-

traveled to Marathon, Florida and later met Munroe and "Geronimo." This was the first time that Evans met "Geronimo" (Richard Downing).

Evans and Parnell's sources weren't able to obtain any cocaine and no deal was consummated. There was allegedly a conversation about cocaine in the presence of Geronimo in a motel room where Munroe and Geronimo were staying (R-894). On deposition Evans testified there was no discussion of any cocaine in the presence of Geronimo (R-927-928, 932), and that he did not know where Munroe and Geronimo were staying. Evans kept the identity of the drug sellers from Munroe and also from the agents (R-907). Evans conceded that he had lied in his deposition testimony under oath concerning his involvement in prior drug deals (R-919, 966). Evans had a prior felony conviction and a grand theft and larceny conviction (R-933).

In reference to the similar fact evidence or collateral crimes, Geronimo (Downing) had nothing to do with the alleged cocaine deal on the first trip to San Francisco (R-921). In reference to the second collateral crime or trip to Denver, "Geronimo" (Richard Downing) had nothing to do with that transaction either (R-923).

In reference to the third collateral crime or similar fact evidence involving the second trip to San Francisco, "Geronimo" (Downing) had nothing to do with the alleged cocaine deal on the first trip to San Francisco (R-921). In reference to

-8-

the second collateral crime or trip to Denver, "Geronimo" (Richard Downing) had nothing to do with that transaction either (R-923).

In reference to the third collateral crime or similar fact evidence involving the second trip to San Francisco, "Geronimo" (Downing) had nothing to do with that transaction (R-924).

In Evans' various discussions with Munroe concerning the people she was dealing with, Munroe referred to the people as "they" (R-923-924).

In the Marathon deal, the only thing that Geronimo said was, "How long are we gonna have to stay here?" (R-932). Geronimo didn't participate in any other fashion at any time in terms of any drug deal in Marathon (R-932).

When Evans first met Agents Cornelius and Layman, he did not know that "Geronimo" was involved and the first time he had any knowledge that Geronimo was in the state of Florida is when he saw him at the Red Roof Inn (R-935). On the morning of April 3, when Munroe and Evans on one occasion went to the Red Roof Inn, Geronimo Jeft and went to get something to eat (R-937). Geronimo did not have anything to do with Evans' discussions with Munroe. He never said anything at all about cocaine (R-938-939).

FDLE Agent Layman testified that he and Agent Cornelius interviewed Evans on the night of April 1, 1985 (R-974). A plan was formulated where Evans was to advise Munroe that he had

-9-

someone that had 5 kilos of cocaine and to arrange a meeting. Evans provided Layman with a Denver, Colorado telephone number (R-976).

On April 2, Layman called Martha B. Munroe to arrange the sale of the cocaine (R-978). A tape recording of the conversation was made and the tape was played to the jury (R-981). The substance of the phone conversation was Layman advising the cocaine was very good and offering to sell it at \$32,000 a kilo and Munroe arguing and suggesting a purchase price of \$25,000 a kilo (R-984). The phone call did not result in an agreement. Later Evans and Munroe conversed on the phone and an agreement was reached (R-986-987).

On April 3, 1985, Layman obtained the cocaine from the evidence room and took it to Room 107 at the Red Roof Inn. Agent Layman wore a microphone and transmitter (R-989-992). The tape recorded conversation was played for the jury and the jury was given a transcript to aid and assist in following the tape (R-1013-1018) (R-415-423).

The substance of the conversation concerned negotiations between Munroe and Layman and Munroe's concern about testing the quality of the drugs (R-1016).

Special Agent Wayne Bass of the FDLE testified that on April 3, 1985, he surveilled the activities that were to take

-10-

place at the Red Roof Inn (R-1037). Bass was set up in a van located in the parking lot. Bass took photographs from the back of the van that were introduced into evidence as Composite 6A-G.

Agent McKeehan accompanied Layman to Room 107 at the Red Roof Inn basically for security purposes. During the course of the meeting, Munroe requested the cocaine be tested but that she did not test it. It would have to be tested by someone else, but she never indicated who that was (R-1527-1529).

After the transaction was called off, McKeehan secured Room 225 for evidentiary purpose and subsequently obtained a search warrant for the room and a tan leatherette zipper type suitcase (R-1530). Over objection, the warrants were admitted into evidence as State's Exhibits 7 and 8 (R-1531-1533). Nothing of evidentiary value was found in the room (R-1533). The contents of the suitcase were photographed and introduced into evidence. Within the suitcase, \$155,000 was seized (R-1533, 1639). The money was admitted into evidence as State's Exhibit 16 (R-1642). Also seized from the suitcase were two packs of matches that came from Angelo's Steakhouse from Panama City, Florida, a Delta Airlines ticket folder from Davidson's Travel Service & Company, Freemont, California, with the name John Henry, a Delta Airlines ticket receipt in the name of Henry/John. The ticket was from San Francisco International to Dallas/Ft. Worth to Atlanta, Georgia, to Tallahassee, Florida (R-1646-1647).

-11-

Also inside the suitcase was an itinerary from Davidson's Travel which shows invoice date of March 28, 1985. Also in the suitcase was a piece of paper from the Holiday Inn Beach Resort, Panama City, Florida (R-1648). There was also a Hilton Hotel receipt in the name of John Adams, with a date of 3/31 (R-1649).

Agent McKeehan expected to find writings and notes relating to drug transactions in the hotel room occupied by Muroe and Downing, but found nothing (R-1657-1658).

There was a stipulation between the State and defense counsel as to the fingerprint analysis. The State's Exhibit 17 which contained three plastic bags, JMIA, JMIB and JMIC (which contained portions of the \$155,000), Downing's fingerprints, thumb and right index finger, appeared on one of the three bags, JMIA (R-1643).

Downing's fingerprints did not appear anywhere on the five ziploc bags which contained the cocaine (R-1643). Downing's fingerprints did not appear anywhere on the gun and holster or on the five cartridges that were in the gun (R-1643-1644). Downing's fingerprints did not appear on the Clorox bottle and bag introduced into evidence as Exhibit 13 (R-1644).

FDLE Agent Mike Ellis assisted in surveillance on April 3, 1986 in the area of the Red Roof Inn (R-1544). Ellis observed Munroe and Downing leaving the Red Roof Inn and traveling to a Chevron Service Station on North Munroe Street (R-1548). Munroe used the payphone and then reentered her vehicle (R-1549).

-12-

Munroe testified that she called Evans at the Red Roof Inn and the man that provided the money for the cocaine deal and the "tester" at Shoney's (R-1907, 1145).

Munroe then proceeded westbound on Interstate 10 (R-1551). Agents Ellis, Cornelius and McLaughlin stopped Munroe's vehicle to arrest the occupants, Munroe and Downing (R-1551-1552). Ellis placed Downing under arrest. Downing presented a Colorado driver's license with the name John Henry Adams (R-1554). Downing had \$1,362.09 in his pants pocket (R-1556).

Downing's wallet was seized from his person and it contained the Colorado driver's license. Over objection, copies of the contents of the wallet were admitted into evidence (R-1561-1571). The wallet contained a card that indicates a second night free at the Tallahassee, Hilton Hotel; a piece of paper with the names Ricky, Kathy, and Denise and three different phone numbers, (R-1568); a piece of paper with two different phone numbers on it from area code 904; a receipt from Caesar's Palace, Lake Tahoe, Nevada; a piece of paper identified by the name of Best Western with a phone number (R-1569); a guest key to the Playboy Club in Miami under the name of Adams (R-1570); a piece of paper with several names on it and a telephone number; a torn piece of paper from a newspaper with a handwritten address on it (R-1570); a piece of paper with the name Rich, with a phone number and an address of 7681 Granada Road, Denver, Colorado (R-1571); a torn piece of paper from a pad that would be used to

-13-

refer messages to business people; an invitation issued by the Best Western Miami Airport Inn indicating the guest would be welcome to the Playboy Club, with a date of 6-21 (R-1571). One of the phone numbers was the same number Evans gave Layman that Evans used to call Munroe in Denver, Colorado.

The parties stipulated that the State could introduce into evidence the registration from the Red Room Inn of April 2, 1985; (Exhibit 12) (R-1591).

Cornelius arrested Munroe on April 3, 1986. He removed a suitcase, a jacket and a bottle of Clorox in a brown paper sack from her vehicle (R-1595). The bottle of Clorox was in the rear floorboard on the passenger side (R-1596). It was seized because Cornelius felt it was a field type test for cocaine (R-1597). His inventory of the Munroe car produce an extensive list of items found inside the car (R-1604, 1696, 1699).

The State rested and both Defendants moved for Judgment of Acquittal as to Counts I and II of the Information. The Motion as to Count I was denied as to both Defendants, but was granted as to Count II as to both Defendants (R-1660-1695).

Munroe called Agent Corneilus as her first witness. Cornelius recovered a letter from the glove compartment that was introduced into evidence as Defense Exhibit No. 1 (R-1700). Cornelius also received a letter that Sheriff W. A. Woodham provided him (R-1701) (Defense Exhibit 2).

-14-

Corneilus read to the jury the contents of the letter that was Defense Exhibit No. 1. The substance of the letter was that Munroe had been living a nightmare for the past two years and it started when her deceased husband paid someone to get rid of her and her son; there had been threats against her and her children; that the people were nuts; and she had been blackmailed into all of this for the past several years (R-1710-1711). Cornelius felt the letter was a plant (R-1713).

Cornelius interviewed Munroe after her arrest. She advised him that her deceased husband had a drinking, gambling, and drug problem and became indebted to people she would not name. The debt was approximately \$168,000. Munroe related that her deceased husband had tried to sell property they owned to satisfy the debt (R-1716) and that she stood in the way of selling the property. She was later advised by Law Enforcement Officers that her husband was going to kill her and her son, Drew Miller (R-1716). Cornelius attempted to find out the names of the people, but she refused to give the names. She did request to speak to Sheriff W. A. Woodham of Gadsden County (R-1717).

Munroe advised that after viewing the cocaine, she was supposed to call someone back at Shoney's (R-1720), and that person would "check on the cocaine." Cornelius felt that even if there had been someone at Shoney's, he probably would be gone by the time the officers could attempt to return to Shoney's (R-1720, 1726).

-15-

Munroe related that Downing was a close friend, stating that he was only along to provide protection for her while meeting with Layman. She acknowledged that his nickname was Geronimo. Munroe advised that Downing was not involved with the cocaine (R-1724).

Cornelius advised Munroe of "substantial assistance" in Chapter 893, but denied advising her she was facing serious penalties. He indicated he didn't know the number of years for the penalties.

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