### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD A. DOWNING,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 71,629

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROYALL P. TERRY, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050
(904) 488-0290

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I - Police reports are not, per se, discoverable under the rules. A police officer's surveillance report pertaining to an investigation where he was, although involved in a reverse sting drug sale operation, not an eye-witness to the actual crime is not a witness "statement" within the meaning of the discovery rules. In the case <u>sub judice</u>, if the trial court's refusal to order production of the reports or conduct an <u>in camera</u> inspection was error it was only harmless error. The First District Court of Appeal correctly found, after unsealing the reports and inspecting same, that they contained no information that had not been brought out either in the officers' depositions or courtroom testimony and that production of the reports would have had absolutely no effect on the outcome of the trial.

ISSUE II - The crime of conspiracy to traffic in cocaine need not be proven by direct evidence. Circumstantial evidence can constitute the basis for a jury verdict of guilty. It is the province of the jury to determine whether or not the evidence produced is inconsistent with any reasonable hypothesis of innocence. Absent a showing of manifest injustice, a jury's verdict should not be disturbed.

ISSUE III - Conspiracy to merely possess cocaine is not a necessarily lesser included offense within conspiracy to traffic in cocaine. Conspiracy to possess cocaine contemplates actual possession and control of the cocaine whereas it is entirely possible to conspire to traffic in cocaine without any intent to actually physically possess or control the contraband. Jury "pardon power" is neither a constitutional right nor does it have any legislative underpinnings.

ISSUE IV - This was not petitioner's first excursion with co-defendant Munroe for the purpose of participating with her in the acquisition of cocaine. Although petitioner put on no evidence, his defense strategy was obvious in Munroe's fanciful tale that petitioner's accompanying her in the matter sub judice was for some purpose other than to purchase cocaine or was to purchase the cocaine for some party other than petitioner. was petitioner's hope and strategy that if Martha Munroe could convince the jury that her co-conspirators were persons other than petitioner, both of them could avoid responsibility for conspiracy in the case sub judice as the actual purchase and aguisition of the cocaine was aborted. Evidence of similar acts are admissible under the Williams Rule to show design, purpose, lack of mistake, etc. Neither petitioner nor his co-defendant presented any evidence that petitioner did not know or understand what was transpiring during his participation with Munroe in a plan to purchase and acquire a large amount of cocaine.

ISSUE V - Petitioner concedes that at least a fifteen year sentence as a minimum mandatory sentence for trafficking in more than 400 grams of cocaine, is required by law. The fact that this court has already ruled in <a href="Atwaters v. State">Atwaters v. State</a>, that the "amount" of ilicit drugs involved is not a valid basis for a departure sentence, the required minimum mandatory sentence provision in the law is unaffected. As to the other grounds for departure stated by the trial court, including the "professional manner" in which petitioner went about the business of planning, functioning and endeavoring to acquire five kilos of cocaine through the offices of co-defendant Munroe, such reasons had been held to be valid basis for sentencing departures. One valid reason is sufficient and under current law such may be shown by a preponderance of the evidence and will be upheld if based upon circumstances or factors which reasonably justify the aggravation of the sentence. The extent of departure is not subject to appellate review.

#### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ACTED WITHIN ITS DISCRETIONARY AUTHORITY IN NOT ORDERING THE STATE TO PRODUCE POLICE REPORTS AND NOT CONDUCTING AN IN CAMERA INSPECTION OF THE POLICE REPORTS. (Restated)

The First District, in the case <u>sub judice</u>, has certified the following question to be one of great public importance:

[w] hether the written reports of the FDLE agents who were involved - by actual participation in the drug transaction or by witnessing the same - in the undercover reverse sting operation are discoverable as 'statements' under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.220(a)(1)(i).

While respondent finds no particular fault with the lower court's phrasing of the question, which might be simply its way of obtaining guidance for the future and an answer to an important question for the benefit of the trial courts, state attorneys, law enforcement agencies and all other concerned citizens, the question is all but moot. The question is an interesting one, the answer to which will no doubt enlighten, for the future all concerned with such matters.

As to the case <u>sub judice</u>, respondent has no desire to engage in hair-splitting distinctions but actually the drug sting

operation sub judice never materialized and the concerned FDLE agents never claimed to have witnessed any conspiratorial pact between Downing and Munroe. The record indicates that the police officers never saw Downing or even had a word with him until he was arrested. Respondent readily concedes that the conspiracy was proved by circumstantial evidence, but it was proved beyond a reasonable doubt and to the jury's satisfaction. The concerned officers dealt only with Monroe and their lay informant/gobetween. As petitioner points out, neither money nor cocaine ever changed hands because before a sample could be tested or cocaine delivered Munroe spotted someone in a van in the parking lot, taking pictures. She and Downing then fled and that was the end of the operation. The "participation" of the officers, visa-vis, Downing is questionable. They were simply not involved with him until they arrested him.

Regardless of how this court answers the above certified question of the First District, petitioner is not entitled to a new trial because, if error there was, it was harmless error. Even if petitioner had had access to the officers' reports, what the lower court found in them after examination, would have had absolutely no effect on the outcome of the trial. Respondent respectfully defers to Judge Nimmons draftsmanship as a precise statement of respondent's position on the issue presented:

Although the trial court's denial of discovery was error, we conclude that

the error was harmless. The trial judge refused to conduct an in camera examination of the FDLE reports. But, he did order that they be delivered to the court for sealing and be made a part of the record of this case. have examined the reports and have carefully compared their contents with the trial testimony of the agents who offered the various report. Basically, the agents testified to the same things which are set forth in their reports and to the same things they had testified to on their discovery depositions which were taken by defense counsel well in advance of the trial. Defense counsel was also permitted pretrial discovery of the audio tape recordings which the officers made during this undercover operation.

It is manifestly clear from the record in this case that disclosure of the police reports to the defense would have had absolutely no effect on the outcome of the case. We therefore hold that the trial court's denial of discovery of the police reports, or failure to conduct an in camera examination of the same, was harmless. See Whiddon v. State, 431 So.2d 290 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); Black v. State, 383 So.2d 295 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980)."

Appendix to petitioner's brief at 5-6

Not even petitoner contends that police reports are <u>per se</u> discoverable. Respondent concedes that the statements of witnesses whose names are provided by the prosecution pursuant to the rules of discovery are discoverable Petitioner's attempts to obtain the subject police reports were a fishing expedition. After all, he had deposed all of the agents involved and had every opportunity to learn everything that they knew about the

matter at hand.

Not even petitioner contends that there was any <u>Brady</u> material involved and, in the absence of facts or circumstances set out by a defendant from which it might be inferred that such evidence is likely to exist, the trial court was not required to conduct an <u>in camera</u> inspection for the purpose of determining whether any portion of the police reports should have been made available to the defendant. <u>Glow v. State</u>, 319 So.2d 487 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1975) Likewise, petitioner has made no allegation that any of the police officer witnesses whose reports he sought to be disclosed, actually used their reports to refresh their memories while on the witness stand, either at deposition or at trial.

Notes to refresh a witness' memory other than while actually being deposed or testifying may or may not be disclosed to the adverse party, according to the trial court's discretion. Merlin v. Boca Raton Community Hospital et al., 479 So.2d 236 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) See also, State v. Johnson, 284 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1973).

The Fourth District has held that defense counsel has no right to demand or inspect a written memorandum of report, for cross-examination purposes, when that memorandum or report is not used by the witness while on the witness stand. Lockhart v. State, 384 So.2d 289, 291 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980)

Petitioner has failed to state with any degree of specificity whatsoever what said reports might contain that allegedly would have either influenced his trial preparation or the result in the case at bar. Police reports are not per se public records. Glow, supra. See also, \$119.07(3)(d), Fla. Stat. re: "active" criminal investigative information as defined in \$119.011(3)(d)(i).

Petitioner only asserts that he might have prepared for trial in a different manner or along different lines if he had known whether the agents' reports agreed with their testimonies on deposition. What nonsense! Petitoner has failed to demonstrate that the information contained in the subject police reports was never available to him through reasonably diligent preparation. Breedlove v. State, 414 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1982). is no constitutional requirement that the prosecution make a complete and detailed accounting to the defense of all police investigatory work. Moore v. Illinois, 408 U.S. 786 (1972). Nor is this required by Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.220. The rules are not designed to provide a procedural escape hatch on appeal for avoidance of the jury's verdict, absent a showing of prejudice or harm to the defendant. Further, petitioner has not urged in his brief that the trial court erroneously refused to make proper inquiry concerning the state's refusal to give up the police reports for discovery. Johnson v. State, 427 So.2d 1029 (Fla. lst DCA 1983), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 1048 (1984) Appellant

merely complains that the refusal of the trial court to conduct an in camera inspection is the equivalent of failure to make a proper Richardson inquiry. As petitioner has pointed out in his brief he made several demands for discovery and even filed a motion to compel production. The matter was exhaustively aired in the trial court as a pre-trial matter. By the time all of that was over, the trial court could not have helped being thoroughly informed as to what was involved and intricately informed as to petitioner's position. As Judge Nimmons put it "The discoverability of the police reports was fully aired in the hearings well in advance of the trial, resulting in a ruling that the reports were not discoverable." This brings us to the lower court's second certified question of great public importance, to wit:

We certify as of great public importance the question of whether the trial court's failure to conduct a Richardson hearing after denying the defendant's pre-trial motion to compel discovery of the police reports requires automatic reversal under Richardson and Smith.

The rule announced in <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1971) serves a good purpose. If the rules of discovery are violated by a party and the other party, on account of such violation is surprised at trial, it is then incumbent upon the trial court to conduct an inquiry into such questions as whether the violation was intentional, substantial or resulting in

prejudice to the other party. The purpose of a Richardson inquiry is to inform the court as to these important aspects of the alleged discovery violation. At that point, in the course of the trial, the trial court would be ignorant as to the background of the matter and if the court summarily ruled without making inquiry, logic might dictate that this is per se reversible error. See Smith v. State, 500 So.2d 125 (Fla. 1986). However, consider a situation where, as in the case at bar, the trial court is already informed, ad nauseam, concerning the defendant's efforts to obtain the police reports and affords the defendant inumerable opportunities to renew his demands and, finally rules that the subject reports are not discoverable. What purpose, on earth, would another hearing serve? There was no surprise involved. A Richardson hearing would not have provided the court or the parties with any more information than they already had. It was simply a pre-trial argument over discoverability of police reports and that, in reality, is the only aspect of the discovery rules that is genuinely before this court at this time. Thus, it is respectfully submitted, that the lower court's second certified question relating to the trial court's failure to conduct a Richardson hearing after the question of discoverability of police reports had been aired time and time again, is mergeable into the first certified question which deals with discoverability of the police reports in this particular context. The second question pre-supposes a discovery rules

#### violation. There was none here!

Smith v. State, supra, cited by petitioner, is inapposite here. As the lower court pointed out, application of Smith presupposes a discovery violation, a surprise to a party at trial occasioned by the other side's failure to comply with the rules of discovery. Because there was no discovery violation in the case at bar, no Richardson hearing was either required or appropriate.

Inasmuch as the police officer witnesses did not make use of their reports while testifying and because their depositions revealed that they were not eye-witnesses to the actual conspiracy between Martha Munroe and Richard Downing, the trial court's pre-trial rulings on the discovery issue were eminently correct.

#### ISSUE II

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT AS A MATTER OF LAW TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT A CRIMINAL CONSPIRACY EXISTED AND THAT RICHARD A. DOWNING WAS A KNOWLEDGEABLE PARTICIPANT. (Restated)

Petitioner begins his argument with the flat statement that there was <u>no</u> evidence at trial as to an agreement between Downing and Munroe. Then he contradicts himself and attempts to convince this court that even though Downing was up to his neck with Munroe in the over-all operation and that he functioned as the "moneybags" with respect to payment for the cocaine, all of this came about without the existence of a common scheme to acquire five kilos of cocaine between himself who was carrying the money in his personal luggage and clothing and Martha Munroe who was negotiating the purchase after viewing the cocaine that was for sale. This was too much for the jury to swallow and not enough for the First District to set aside the jury's verdict.

Respondent is aware of this court's rulings in <a href="McArthur v.">McArthur v.</a>
<a href="State">State</a>, 351 So.2d 972, 976 (Fla. 1977), which is relied upon by petitioner. In that case, Nadine McArthur took the stand and explained, in detail, to the jury how the gun went off accidentally killing her husband. The state's forensic evidence was not inconsistent with this version. In the case <a href="sub-judice">sub-judice</a>, petitioner put on no evidence and the jury was free to draw its

own conclusions from the evidence presented by the state and the incredible version offered by Martha Munroe when she testified in her own defense.

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